






As we continue to build CARD MRI up as a dynamic group of development-oriented 
institutions fit for the digital landscape, we must always recognize the very reason 
for us in undertaking this grand endeavor - our clients and members.

They are our inspiration, and their upliftment in life is our mission. We, as servants 
of social development, must always remind ourselves that our transformation has 
purpose.

Our cover aims to illustrate CARD MRI’s dedication towards our digital transformation 
while still maintaining the essential human connection we have with our clients and 
stakeholder partners. The motif of the wheel symbolizes that CARD MRI is purposely 
designed to move forward with the aid of technology, while the inset photographs 
showcase not only our institutions’ achievements but also meaningful moments with 
our clients and communities.

This is transformation with a mission. 
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CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. envisions to become top-of-mind insurance 
agency of Micro-insurance products and services.

CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. is committed to provide life and non-life 
insurance products and services in real-time at the most affordable premium 
rate to client-members of CARD MRI and its affiliates.

Achieving 5-8-40 and Beyond 5



We at CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. (CaMIA) 
continue to remain faithful to our mission of providing 
affordable and accessible life and non-life insurance 
products and services for all. This is our commitment 
as we move closer towards our 5-8-40 vision.

Adopting digital transformation is daunting, but 
staying in the traditional system is not an option. 
What makes the journey worthy is the idea that our 
stakeholders are with us as it is easier to share the 
burden as well as the fruit of success.

Challenges are inevitable but we will make 
sure that these will not hinder us in providing 
quality products and services worthy of our clients’ 
hard-earned money. We consider these as part 
of our learning curve as a young and developing 
institution. With this, we acknowledge and bridge the 
gap between those who can afford easy access to 
technology and those who cannot.

We continue to strengthen our distribution 
channels - the microinsurance coordinators and 
supervisors – by capacitating them through training 
programs that would enable them to come up with 
strategies to expand our reach and ensure the inclusion 
of the marginalized sector of the society. From the 
staff to the target market, we focus on increasing the 
participation of everybody as our means of engaging 
the marginalized by ensuring that the latter will either 
come to us or we will reach out to them. We are also 
empowering our microinsurance coordinators and 
supervisors to enable them to become conscious 
agents for social and digital transformation.

 In the previous years when we started 
transforming our institution’s processes digitally, 
we observed an immense improvement in the 
implementation of our services and distribution of our 
products. This year, we have continued taking the steps 
towards digitalization with more fervor. CaMIA involves 
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every stakeholder, from the staff to the clients, 
through the digital transformation by making sure 
that the transformation is inclusive to everybody. 
We believe that the holistic involvement - where no 
one is left behind - is the key towards empowerment 
and development for all.

 Every stakeholder has a valuable role 
towards achieving our target and it is important 
that we show them their value by providing them 
a better product or service. We acknowledge the 
power of technology to help deliver these services 

to the Filipinos faster and in a more convenient way.

 We are excited in the coming years to 
continue to provide good services to more Filipino 
families and communities. You can be assured that 
our increasing thrust towards social development 
with the help of the digital transformation is here to 
stay. Evaluating the successes we have achieved this 
year, we can confidently say that we can achieve our 
5-8-40 goal by 2020 and consequently, completely 
eradicate poverty as this is the ultimate progressive 
realization of all our efforts.

May S. Dawat
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As a provider of affordable life and non-life 
insurance products and services, we at the CARD MRI 
Insurance Agency, Inc. (CaMIA) will continue to improve 
our engagement with our clients by optimizing the use 
of modern technology.

Our belief is that being true to our mission begets 
better results. 

This year we target to address and balance the 
needs of both our target market and the distribution 
channels - both having key roles towards achieving 
CaMIA’s goal - to provide viable products and services 
to broaden our client base.

Our Triumphs
Our accomplishments so far have enabled our 

institution to dramatically move forward towards our 
5-8-40 goal.

One of our many highlights this year was the 
pilot testing of Kabuklod individual to 12 provincial 
offices. Since we cannot still evaluate its impact on 
our bottomline, we will continue the pilot testing in the 
coming years. We started also selling CARD Care to 
our clients’ spouses in selected provincial offices, which 
generated positive impact on the program’s number 
of sales. We also targeted to strengthen the BINHI 

program, so we employed additional pilot areas for this.

From January to December of 2018, we sold over 1.6 
million in policies for our five major products: Kabuklod 
Plan, Sagip Plan, CARD Care, DAKILA, and BINHI. On top 
of that huge number was the 93.6% policies rating that 
we achieved.

We were able to achieve those milestones because 
we put value on our sales force and distribution channels 
and recognize them for their important role in expanding 
our markets. We empowered them by holding trainings 
that would not only boost our sales, but also their 
morale. We conducted claims orientation for the MICs 
to further their knowledge and strengthen their skills in 
promoting and handling our products and services. The 
implementation of the enhanced Kabuklod and Sagip 
plan incentive and other travel program incentives also 
inspired our staff and MICs and enabled them to mingle 
with one another to strengthen the family spirit within 
our agency. 

Moreover, the implementation of the Break the 
Record strategy provided tokens to those who were 
able to produce larger number of membership than 
their previous record. Our 4-million club, a club we 
created to further motivate our MIS, provides benefits 
to the microinsurance supervisors once they produce 
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four million premiums in one month.

Empowering our Distribution Channels
Excellent groups are led by excellent leaders. It is 

vital that our leaders are competent and reliable so 
that the knowledge-sharing mechanism within our 
institution would be enhanced to capacitate everyone.  
With this, we support the endeavors of our leaders to 
improve their knowledge and skills, and in turn, they 
are able to pass on their learning to the workforce. The 
President and General Manager started Senior Executive 
Leadership Program at Harvard Business School India 
Research Center. CaMIA’s Deputy Director for Operation 
also participated in the Basic Strategic Management at 
the Ateneo de Manila University. Our Finance Manager 
attended Accounting and Finance Show in Singapore.
 

Aside from our leaders, we recognize that the 
fundamentals of our operations lie significantly on the 
sales force and distribution channels. That is why we make 
sure we provide them better opportunities for capacity 
building. This year, we enrolled 156 MICs in eLearning 
conducted by CMDI. Our accomplishment also included 
the implementation of different incentive programs and 
Break the Record strategy, which not only motivated 
them in terms of handling the sales and promotions 
of our products, but also empowered them to broaden 
the reach of their influence. Implementing a series of 
trainings for the MICs also enabled them to improve their 

skills and capacity as our core coordinators.

 Reinforcing Digital Transformation
The digital age provides a path for major 

changes in the processes of our institution. Before the 
technological advancements came into play, we had 
to do the slow and tiring manual work in inputting the 
data, processing, and even disseminating information. 
We are presently transforming digitally and we are 
doing our best to maximize the power of technology 
to improve our services.

In fact, we have developed a web-based system 
for the staff so the data input and checking would 
be more convenient and less time-consuming. For 
instance, it is now easier to check and encode the 
travel incentives data. We also use social media 
platforms to facilitate easier communication with 
clients. We have MIC chat group also where concerns  
are easily reported and directed to our microinsurance 
supervisors. We have also created a Facebook page, 
which we are preparing to majorly launch by 2019.
 
Inclusivity for Holistic Development

We at CaMIA acknowledge that this easy access 
to advanced technologies is not for everyone. Many 
families and communities in distant areas do not 
have the luxury to access the Internet because it is 
expensive. How do we reach them then? 
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With the help of Pioneer, we have developed and 
implemented an offline system so that Internet access 
is not needed when our MICs are going to remote 
areas. The data will just be merged once they go to 
a place where there is internet access. Also, because 
the encoding of policies is done in real-time, the time 
that was once spent encoding is now directed at doing 
other productive works.

There are those who are averse to using 
technology. Some of them are not adept at using 
computer or smartphone. By our efforts to inform, 
explain, and give value to the benefits of digitalization, 
we are hoping that our clients will see the convenience 
technology may bring to their lives.

Additionally, we are improving and preparing 
programs that would enable us to extend our reach 
to the marginalized sector of the society. The Sagip-
Negosyo product, for instance, is developed as a 
resiliency program where sari-sari store owners can 
be insured.
 
Towards Achieving 5-8-40 in the Near Future

We will continue to put our best foot forward in 
our mission to serve more than eight million clients and 
provide insurance to more than 40 million individuals 
by 2020.

By March 2019, we are planning to relaunch the 
Compulsory Third Party Liability (CTPL) Insurance for 
motors and cars. This has already been developed but 
we are continuously improving the system to ensure 
that we will be able to roll out a better one. We are 
working with the LTO & OPM to further the reach of 

CTPL to tricycle operator and driver associations 
(TODA). An insurance is already a requirement for 
TODA, but we plan to meet with the drivers and 
operators so that even before registration, they 
would already have their insurance policies. It is also 
our goal to open this option even to non-members 
within the CARD Group. We are also preparing to 
implement the Variable UniLink (VUL) insurance with 
investment.

The Sagip-Negosyo product is now being set for 
launching in Samar and Leyte. We target to reach a 
large percentage of the 400,000 sari sari stores in 
the Philippines. We will continue to strengthen BINHI 
as we will try to insure not only the NGOs but also 
other banking institutions.

Addressing the previous difficulties we 
encountered with the claims validation at BINHI, 
we will incorporate the use of drones for an easier 
way to survey the field, faster way to analyze the 
percentage of destroyed area and consequently, a 
faster validation process. Also included in our future 
projects is the pilot testing of ER care in CALABARZON 
this March 2019.
 

Will we be able to achieve 5-8-40 in the coming 
years? We are confident to say, “yes, we will”— 
looking objectively at the numbers that prove to 
be increasing day by day, year by year. We will 
continue improving our processes by utilizing the 
technological advancements, bridging the digital 
divide, broadening our reach to the marginalized, 
and building capacity of our leaders, staffs, and the 
distribution channels.
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Mr. Vener S. Abellera
President and General Manager
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Mr. Allan L. Sarmiento
Operations Director
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Deputy Director For Admin and Finance
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Deputy Director for Insurance Services
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Regional Manager for Insurance Services
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Claims and Underwriting Manager
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CARD Pioneer Microinsurance (CPMI) 

Pioneer Life, Inc.

Pacific Cross (former Blue Cross)

PhilCare

RIMANSI Mutual Solutions Insurance Agency, Inc. (RMSI)

UCPB General Insurance Company, Inc. (UCPB GEN)
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.  
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
 
 
 December 31 January 1 

 2018 

2017 
(As restated – 

 Note 22) 

2017 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Notes 6) P=31,685,609 P=23,811,645 P=10,803,346 
Short-term investment (Note 7) 5,392,735 5,250,743 5,155,412 
Loans and receivable (Note 8) 15,425,220 11,383,798 23,938,581 
Other assets (Note 9) 588,285 5,955,914 2,161,831 
 53,091,849 46,402,100 42,059,170 

Noncurrent Assets    
Financial Assets at (Notes 10) 
 Fair Value through Other Comprehensive  
  Income (FVOCI)  51,418,174 – – 
 Available-for-sale – 38,067,928 24,597,868 
Investment in Associates (Note 11) 2,504,112 – – 
Loans and receivable (Note 8) 3,900,000 3,900,000 3,000,000 
Property and equipment (Note 12) 63,841 198,923 455,858 
Investment properties (Notes 13) 11,395,096 11,718,396 11,880,046 
Deferred tax assets (Note 18) 824,681 367,169 194,142 
Pension asset – net (Note 17) 2,899,006 3,078,896 2,019,927 
 73,004,910 57,331,312 42,147,841 
 P=126,096,759 P=103,733,412 P=84,207,011 
    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables (Notes 14) P=36,561,488 P=30,155,632 P=33,347,996 

Equity    
Capital stock (Note 15) 50,000,000 35,899,500 22,232,500 
Retained earnings (Note 15) 45,378,820 37,079,406 28,073,863 
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit plan 
 (Note 17) (468,655) 598,874 552,652 
Unrealized loss on financial asset at FVOCI  
 (Note 10) (5,374,894) – – 
 89,535,271 73,577,780 50,859,015 
 P=126,096,759 P=103,733,412 P=84,207,011 
    
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 

 2018 

2017 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 
REVENUE   
Commission income (Note 21) ₱93,756,980 ₱98,842,908 
Administration fee 5,159,216 – 
Interest income (Notes 6, 7 and 8) 558,502 535,432 
Foreign exchange gain – 95,060 
Other income 2,774,588 457,203 
 102,249,286 99,930,603 
EXPENSES   
Professional fees 8,327,525 957,563 
Salaries and allowances 6,584,681 6,041,607 
Training and development 6,141,014 8,678,254 
Transportation and travel 5,735,454 7,776,604 
Program monitoring and evaluation 5,145,291 3,447,782 
Donations 5,000,000 2,000,000 
Provision for impairment losses 2,222,385 4,592,019 
Information technology expense 1,632,980 1,216,368 
Supplies 1,291,370 1,222,952 
Insurance 855,159 403,490 
Security and janitorial 651,578 1,034,262 
Advertising and promotion 474,249 199,277 
Rent (Note 20) 469,579 488,684 
Depreciation (Note 12 and 13) 458,382 814,649 
Repairs and maintenance    365,648 393,243 
Communication and postage 359,751 327,028 
Taxes and licenses 289,323 132,157 
Representation and entertainment 144,682 270,024 
Light and water 125,701 73,014 
Pension expense (Note 17) 101,195 142,064 
Underwriting expenses  – 15,955,283 
Other expenses 385,685 2,132,892 
 46,761,632 58,299,216 
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 55,487,654 41,631,387 
PROVISION FOR TAX (Note 18) 20,688,042 12,425,842 
NET INCOME ₱34,799,612 ₱29,205,545 
   
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.  
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 

 2018 

2017 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 

NET INCOME ₱34,799,614 ₱29,205,545 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
Items that will not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 

periods:   
 Remeasurement gain (loss) on defined benefit plan (Note 17) (1,067,529) 46,222 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ₱33,732,085 ₱29,251,767 
   
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

 
Capital Stock 

(Notes 15 and 19) 

Unappropriated 
Retained 
Earnings 

(Notes 15 and 17) 

Remeasurement 
Loss on Defined 

Benefit Plan 
(Note 14) 

Unrealized loss on 
financial asset at 

FVOCI 
(Note 10) Total 

At January 1, 2018      
 As previously reported P=35,899,500 P=26,594,140 P=598,874 P=– P=63,092,514 

Effect of initial application of PFRS 9 – – – (5,374,894) (5,374,894) 
 Effect of prior period adjustment – 10,485,268 – – 10,485,268 
At January 1, 2018, as restated 35,899,500 37,079,408 598,874 (5,374,894) 68,202,888 
Issuance of shares:      
 Additional infusion during the year 14,100,500 – – – 14,100,500 
Dividends (Note 15) – (26,500,200) – – (26,500,200) 
Total comprehensive income    –  
 Net income – 34,799,612 – – 34,799,612 
 Other comprehensive loss – – (1,067,529) – (1,067,529) 
At December 31, 2018 P=50,000,000 P=45,378,820 (P=468,655) (P=5,374,894) P=89,535,271 
      
At January 1, 2017      
 As previously reported P=22,232,500 P=24,214,048 P=552,652 P=– P=46,999,200 
 Effect of prior period adjustment – 3,859,813 – – 3,859,815 
At January 1, 2017, as restated 22,232,500 28,073,861 552,652 – 50,859,015 
Issuance of shares:      
 Additional infusion during the year 13,667,000 – – – 13,667,000 
Dividends (Note 15) – (20,200,000) – – (20,200,000) 
Total comprehensive income      
 Net income – 29,205,545 – – 29,205,545 
 Other comprehensive income – – 46,222 – 46,222 
At December 31, 2017 P=35,899,500 P=37,079,406 P=598,874 P=– P=73,577,780 
      
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 
 Years Ended December 31 

 2018 

2017 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Income before income tax P=55,487,654 P=41,631,387 
Adjustments for:   
 Provision for impairment losses (Note 8)   2,222,385 4,592,019 

Dividend income (1,740,000) – 
 Bad debts recovery  (783,215) – 
 Interest income (Notes 6, 7 and 8) (558,502) (807,159) 
 Depreciation (Note 12 and 13) 458,382 814,649 
 Share in net loss of associate 345,040 – 
 Net change in pension (Note 17) 101,195 112,393 
 Foreign exchange gain  – (95,060) 
Operating income before working capital changes 55,532,939 46,248,229 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   
Decrease (increase) in:   
 Other current assets  5,367,629 (7,624,057) 
 Loans and receivables  (3,159,644) (12,721,158) 

Short-term investment (141,992) – 
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 5,024,808 (10,804,328) 
Net cash flows generated from operations 62,623,740 36,707,342 
Income tax paid  (26,216,878) (5,801,286) 
Contributions made to the retirement fund (Note 17) (1,446,346) 1,135,002 
Interest received 459,939 1,270,905 
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 35,420,456 33,311,963 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Acquisitions of:   
 Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 10) (16,886,791) (13,375,000) 
 Property and equipment  – (72,764) 
 Investment property  – (323,300) 
Dividends received 1,740,000 – 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (15,146,791) (13,711,064) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Dividends paid (Note 15) (26,500,200) (20,200,000) 
Additional capital infusion (Note 15) 14,100,500 13,667,400 
Net cash flows used in financing activities (12,399,700) (6,532,600) 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7,873,964 13,008,299 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  

BEGINNING OF YEAR 23,811,645 10,803,346 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  

END OF YEAR (Note 6) P=31,685,609 P=23,811,645 
   
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements. 
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 
 

CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in the Philippines and 
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on August 2, 2007 
primarily to engage in the business of selling life and non-life insurance and other related services.  
36.63% of the Company’s common stock is owned by CARD, Inc., a social development 
organization incorporated in the Philippines.   

 
The registered office address of the Company is 120 M. Paulino St., corner P. Burgos St.,  
Brgy. VII-D, San Pablo City, Laguna 

 
The accompanying financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors (BOD) on April 9, 2019. 

 
 
2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance 

 
Basis of Preparation  
The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P=), the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency.  All amounts are rounded off to the nearest peso, unless otherwise indicated. 

 
Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
 
The Company availed of the exemption from the mandatory adoption of PFRS for Small and 
Medium-sized Entities (PFRS for SMEs) on the grounds that the Company is reporting to a Company 
that is reporting under full PFRS. 

 
3. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the 
following new, amendments and improvements to PFRS and Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 
which became effective as of January 1, 2018.  Except as otherwise indicated, these changes in the 
accounting policies did not have any significant impact on the financial position or performance of 
the Company: 

 New and Amended Standards 
 Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-

based Payment Transactions  
 Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with 

PFRS 4 
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 

Consideration 
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 PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of PFRS 9.  
The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, 
and hedge accounting.  The PFRS 9 requirements did not have significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

 
The Company has adopted PFRS 9 effective January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective 
approach.  The Company has not restated the comparative information, which continued to be 
reported under PAS 39.  Adjustments arising from the adoption of PFRS 9 have been 
recognized in the retained earnings as of January 1, 2018. 

 
(a) Classification and Measurement 

Under PFRS 9, debt financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL), amortized cost (AC), or fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI).  The classification is based on the Company’s business model for 
managing the financial assets; and whether the financial instrument’s contractual cash 
flows represent “solely payments of principal and interests” or “SPPI” on the principal 
amount outstanding.   
 
In addition, equity securities that are held other than for trading purposes or retained as 
contingent consideration from a business combination, can be designed by an entity as 
financial asset at FVOCI in an irrevocable basis.  Equity security assets are measured at 
fair value. 
 
The assessment of the Company’s business model was made as at January 1, 2018.  The 
assessment of whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows are SPPI was made based 
on the facts and circumstances as at the initial recognition of the financial assets.   

  
(b) Impairment 

The adoption of PFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s measurement of 
impairment losses for its financial assets – from PAS 39’s incurred loss approach to a 
forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach.  Under PFRS 9, the Company is 
required to provide ECL for financial assets at AC, FVOCI and contract assets.  The 
allowance is based on the ECLs associated with the risk of default in the next twelve 
months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination or the 
financial assets are impaired where lifetime ECL is provided.   

Upon the adoption of PFRS 9, the Company assessed that its balances with banks and 
receivable counterparties, are considered low credit risk financial assets as of  
January 1, 2018.  Furthermore, as these financial assets are primarily repayable on 
demand, the Company assessed that the impact of recognizing 12-month ECL for these 
financial assets is not significant.   
 

(c) Hedge accounting  
The new hedge accounting model under PFRS 9 aims to simplify hedge accounting, align 
the accounting for hedge relationships more closely with an entity’s risk management 
activities and permit hedge accounting to be applied more broadly to a greater variety of 
hedging instruments and risks eligible for hedge accounting.   
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Adoption of these amendments did not have an impact on the Company’s financial 
statements as it does not apply hedge accounting. 

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under PAS 39 to the balances reported 
under PFRS 9 classification as at January 1, 2018 is presented below.  The Company’s 
adoption of PFRS 9 did not have any impact on its financial liabilities: 
 

 PAS 39 Remeasurement  PFRS 9 
 Category Amount  Category Amount 

Assets      
Cash and other cash 

items 
Loans and 
receivables P=23,811,645 P=–  Amortized cost  P=23,811,645 

Short-term investment Loans and      
receivables  5,250,743 –  Amortized cost  5,250,743 

Loans and receivables Loans and      
receivables 15,283,798 –  Amortized cost  15,283,798 

Available-for-sale 
 financial assets AFS 38,067,928 (5,374,894) FVOCI 32,693,034 
Security deposits Loans and      

receivables 153,150 –  Amortized cost  153,150 
  P=82,567,264 (P=5,374,894)  P=77,192,370 

 
The impact on the Company’s equity upon adoption of PFRS 9 is decrease of P=5.37 
million due to recognition of unrealized loss on FVOCI financial assets 
 

 PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
PFRS 15 supersedes PAS 11, Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue and related 
Interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts 
with customers.  PFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognized at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods 
or services to a customer.  In addition, guidance on interest and dividend income have been 
moved from PAS 18 to PFRS 9 without significant changes to the requirements.   
 
The Company’s adoption of PFRS 15 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements since its main revenue, commission income from insurance agency, has 
only single performance obligation, which is not subject to variable consideration.  Similar 
under PAS 18, commission under PFRS 15 is recognized based on transaction price under 
completion of service obligation.  
 

 Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2014 – 2017 Cycle) 
 Amendments to PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, Measuring an 

Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value  
 Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property 

 
Standards Issued but not yet Effective 

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below.  Unless otherwise indicated, the 
Company does not expect the future adoption of the said pronouncements to have a significant impact 
on its financial statements.  The Company intends to adopt the following pronouncements when they 
become effective.   
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Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019 
 Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 
 Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 
 Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
 Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 

• Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, 
Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation 

• Amendments to PAS 12, Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments 
Classified as Equity 

• Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization 
 

 PFRS 16, Leases 

PFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar 
to the accounting for finance leases under PAS 17, Leases.  The standard includes two 
recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and 
short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less).  At the commencement date 
of a lease, a lessee will recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and 
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset).  Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the lease 
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. 

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events 
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine those payments).  The lessee will generally recognize the amount 
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under 
PAS 17.   Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in 
PAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.  PFRS 16 also 
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under PAS 17.  A lessee can 
choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective 
approach.  The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.  The Company is currently 
assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2020 
 Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business 
 Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8, Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2021 
 PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 
 
Deferred effectivity 
 Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution 

of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Fair Value Measurement 
The Company measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting period.  Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company. 
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 
 
The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 
 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 
 
For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid instruments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less 
and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
Financial Instruments – Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement 
Date of recognition 
Purchases or sales of financial assets, except for derivatives, that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the 
settlement date.  Settlement date accounting refers to (a) the recognition of an asset on the day it is 
received by the Company, and (b) the derecognition of an asset and recognition of any gain or loss on 
disposal on the day that such asset is delivered by the Company.  Deposits and receivables are 
recognized when cash is received by the Company or advanced to the borrowers.   

 
‘Day 1’ difference 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference 
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between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in the statement of revenue over 
expenses unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset. In cases where fair value is 
determined using data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and 
model value is only recognized in the statement of revenue over expenses when the inputs become 
observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Company determines 
the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ difference amount 
 
Policies applicable beginning January 1, 2018 
 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets 
Financial instruments are classified, at initial recognition, as either at amortized cost, FVOCI and fair 
value through profit and loss (FVPL).  The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition 
depends in their contractual terms and the business model for managing the instruments.  Financial 
instruments except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction.  Receivables are measured at the transaction price.  
When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the transaction price, 
the Company accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described in page 5. 
 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has no financial instruments at FVPL. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company may reclassify its financial assets only when there is a 
change in its business model for managing these financial assets.  Reclassification of financial 
liabilities is not allowed. 
 
Business model assessment 
The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of 
financial assets to achieve its business objective.  The Company’s business model is not assessed on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on 
observable factors such as: 
 How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business 

model are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel 
 The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed 
 The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Company’s 

assessment 
 
The business model assessment is based on reasonable expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ 
or ‘stresscase’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that 
is different from the Company’s original expectations, the Company does not change the 
classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates such 
information when assessing newly originated or newly purchase financial assets going forward. 
 
The solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) test 
As a second step of its classification process the Company assess the contractual terms of financial 
assets to identify whether they meet the SPPI test. 
 
‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial assets at initial 
recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments 
of principal or amortization of the premium/discount). 
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The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration 
for the time value of money and credit risk.  To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies 
judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is 
denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set. 
 
In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risk or volatility in 
the contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount 
outstanding.  In such cases, the financial asset is required to be measured at FVPL. 
 
As of December 31 and January 1, 2018, the Company assessed that all of its debt financial assets 
passed the SPPI test. 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost 
Debt financial assets are measured at amortized cost of both of the following conditions are met: 
 The asset is held within the Company’s business model whose objective is to hold assets in order 

to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 The contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Debt financial assets meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs.  
They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest method less any 
impairment in value, with the interest calculated recognized as ‘Interest income’ in the statement of 
revenues and expenses.  

 
The Company may irrevocably elect at initial recognition to classify debt financial asset that meets 
the amortized cost criteria above as at FVTPL if that designation eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch had the debt financial asset been measured at amortized cost. 

 
From January 1, 2018, the Company’s financial assets measured at amortized cost include ‘Cash and 
cash equivalents’, ‘Short-term investments’ and ‘Loans and receivables’ and security deposits 
recorded in ‘Other assets’. 

 
Financial Assets at FVOCI 
At initial recognition, the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate equity investments as at FVOCI; however, such designation is not 
permitted if the equity investment is held by the Company for trading.  The Company has designated 
its unquoted equity instruments as at FVOCI on initial application of PFRS 9 as these are not held for 
trading purposes. 
 
These financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income.  When the asset is disposed of, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the net losses on investment securities account is not 
reclassified to profit or loss, but is reclassified directly to ‘Equity’ account.  Any dividends 
earned on holding these equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss under ‘Dividend income’ 
account. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated at FVPL, are classified as 
liabilities under trade payables, accrued expenses and other payables presented under and ‘Trade and 
other payables’ in the statement of financial position, where the substance of the contractual 
arrangement results in the Company having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial 
asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or 
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another financial asset.  The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and 
equity elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual 
amount after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair 
value of the liability component on the date of issue. 
 
After initial measurement, financial liabilities not qualified and not designated as FVPL are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral 
part of the EIR. 
 
Policies applicable prior to January 1, 2018 

 
 Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments  
 All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 

recorded at FVPL, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  The 
Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL, held-to-
maturity (HTM) investments, available-for-sale (AFS) investments and receivables.  The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are 
quoted in an active market.  Financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at FVPL and 
other financial liabilities.  Management determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting 
date. 

 
As of December 31, 2017, the Company does not have financial assets at FVPL and Investments at 
amortized cost. 
 
Loans and Receivables 
These are non-derivative financial assets (i.e., cash, restricted cash, trade and other receivables) with 
fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with 
the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as AFS investments or financial 
assets designated at FVPL.  
 
After initial measurement, receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR.  The amortization is included in ‘Interest income’ in the statement of comprehensive income.  
The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the statement of income under ‘Provision for 
(reversal of) credit and impairment losses’.  This accounting policy is also applied to ‘Cash and cash 
equivalents’, ‘Short-term investments’ and ‘Loans and receivables’ and security deposits recorded 
under ‘Other assets’. 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
AFS financial assets are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as 
financial assets at FVPL, HTM financial assets, or loans and receivables.  They are purchased and 
held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market 
conditions.  They include equity investments, money market papers and government and corporate 
debt securities. 

 
After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.  The 
effective yield component of AFS debt securities, as well as the impact of translation of foreign 
currency-denominated AFS debt securities, is reported in the statement of income.  The unrealized 
gains and losses arising from the fair valuation of AFS financial assets are excluded, net of tax, from 
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reported earnings and are reported as ‘Net unrealized gains (losses) on AFS financial assets’ under 
OCI. 

 
When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is 
recognized as ‘Trading and securities gain - net’ in the statement of income.  Interest earned on 
holding AFS debt securities are reported as ‘Interest income’ using the EIR.  Dividends earned on 
holding AFS equity instruments are recognized in the statement of income as ‘Miscellaneous income’ 
when the right to the payment has been established.  The losses arising from impairment of such 
investments are recognized as ‘Provision for impairment and credit losses’ in the statement of 
income. 
Financial liabilities 
These are issued financial instruments or their components which are not designated as at FVPL and 
where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Company having an obligation 
either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by 
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity 
shares.  The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity 
elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount 
after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of 
the liability component on the date of issue. 

 
This accounting policy relates to trade payables, accrued expenses and other payables presented under 
and ‘Trade and other payables’ in the statement of financial position. 

 
Reclassification of Financial Assets 
The Company may reclassify, in rare circumstances, non-derivative financial assets out of the HFT 
investments category and into the AFS financial assets, Loans and Receivables or HTM financial 
assets categories.  The Company may also reclassify, in certain circumstances, financial instruments 
out of the AFS financial assets to loans and receivables category.  Reclassifications are recorded at 
fair value at the date of reclassification, which becomes the new amortized cost. 

 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the AFS financial assets category, any previous gain or loss on 
that asset that has been recognized in OCI is amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life of the 
investment using the effective interest method.  Any difference between the new amortized cost and 
the expected cash flows is also amortized over the remaining life of the asset using the effective 
interest method.  If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired then the amount recorded in 
OCI is recycled to the statement of income.  Reclassification is at the election of management, and is 
determined on an instrument by instrument basis.  The Company does not reclassify any financial 
instrument into the FVPL category after initial recognition. 
 
Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) 
is derecognized when: 
 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
 the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation 

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 
 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control over the asset. 
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Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
"pass-through" arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control over the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the 
Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

 
Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of 
revenue over expenses. 
 
Policies applicable beginning January 1, 2018 for impairment of financial asset 
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for ECL on its financial that are measured at amortized 
cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective financial instrument.  
 
As allowed under PFRS 9 for financial asset with no significant financing component, the Company 
applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for 
financial assets at amortized cost.  These credit losses are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash 
flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial assets.  To 
calculate the expected credit losses, the Company uses its historical experience, external indicators 
and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix. 
 
Management of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

  
Policies applicable prior to January 1, 2018 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to 
be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event 
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

 
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, 
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable 
data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.  

 
Financial assets carried at amortized cost 
For cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and receivables carried at amortized cost, the 
Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant.  If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  
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Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by 
being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of 
the assets being evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is, or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment for 
impairment. 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to 
the statement of revenue over expenses.  Receivables, together with the associated allowance 
accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has 
been realized.  If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases 
because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later 
recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to ‘Other income’ in the statement of revenue 
over expenses. 

 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of 
such credit risk characteristics as industry, past-due status and term.  Future cash flows in a group of 
financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical 
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.  Historical loss 
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to 
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.   

 
Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with changes in 
related observable data from period to period (such as changes in unemployment rates, payment 
status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude).  The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the 
Company to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

 
AFS financial assets 
For Financial assets at FVOCI, the Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  

 
In case of equity securities classified as AFS, this would include a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value of the investments below their cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, the 
cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on those financial assets previously recognized in the statement of revenue 
over expenses - is removed from OCI and charged to current operations. 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

 
Impairment losses on equity securities are not reversed through profit or loss.  Increases in fair value 
after impairment are recognized directly in OCI. 
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Investment Property 
Investment properties are properties (land and/or buildings) held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation (or both). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost with disclosures of the 
investment property fair value at year-end. 
 
It is derecognized when either it has been disposed of, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gain or loss on the disposal is 
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
Depreciation on investment property is computed using the straight – line method over the estimated 
useful life (EUL) of ten (10) years. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 
impairment in value. 
 
The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, including nonrefundable 
taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for 
its intended use.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 

 
Depreciation on computer equipment, office furniture and fixture and transportation equipment is 
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life (EUL).  

 
 Years 

Transportation equipment 5 
Computer and office equipment 3 
Office furniture and fixtures 3 

 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further 
charge for depreciation is made with respect to these assets. 
 
The estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to 
ensure that the period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 
When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related 
accumulated depreciation and amortization and accumulated provision for impairment losses, if any, 
are removed from the accounts.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets, which is 
calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is 
included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognized. 
 
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
The Company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is an indication that property 
and equipment may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for 
an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  Where the 
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carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 
An assessment is made at each end of the reporting period as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years.   
Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which 
case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such reversal the depreciation charge is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
 
Creditable Withholding Taxes (CWTs) 
Creditable withholding pertains to the tax paid by the Company that is withheld by its counterparty 
for the payment of its expenses and other purchases.  These CWTs are initially recorded at cost as an 
asset under “Other assets” account.   
 
At each end of the tax-reporting deadline, these CWTs may either be offset against future income tax 
payable or be claimed as a refund from the taxation authorities at the option of the Company.  At each 
end of the reporting period, an assessment for impairment is performed as to the recoverability of 
these CWTs. 
 
Value-Added Tax (VAT) 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except: 

 where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost acquisition from the asset or 
as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 receivable and payable that are stated with the amount of tax included. 
 

The net amount of tax recoverable from the tax authority is included as part of Other current assets in 
the statement of financial position. 

 
Net Pension Liability/Asset 
The net pension liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any), adjusted for any 
effect of limiting a net benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the present value of any 
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions 
to the plan. 
 
The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the 
projected unit credit method. 
Defined benefit costs comprise the following: 
 Service cost 
 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset 
 Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset 
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Service costs which include current service cost, past service cost and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss.  Past service costs are recognized when plan 
amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated periodically by independent 
qualified actuaries. 

Net interest on the net defined pension liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined pension liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying 
the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined pension liability or asset.  Net interest 
on the net defined pension liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss. 
 
Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined pension liability) are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are 
not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
 
Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance  
policies.  Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they be paid directly 
to the Company.  Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information.  When no market 
price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows 
using a discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or 
expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the 
settlement of the related obligations).  If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is 
limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the plan. 
 
Equity 
Capital stock is recognized as issued when the stock is paid for or subscribed under a binding 
subscription agreement and is measured at par value.  When the shares are sold at a premium, the 
difference between the proceeds and the par value is credited to additional paid-in capital account.   
 
Share issuance costs incurred as necessary part of completing an equity transaction are accounted  
for as part of that transaction and are treated as a deduction from Additional paid-in capital from 
previous share issuance.  If the additional paid-in capital account is not sufficient, the excess is 
deducted from retained earnings. 
 
Revenue 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognized: 
 
Commission income 
The Company recognizes commission income based on premium billings upon rendition of services 
to the insured and upon issuance of policies by the insurer.  Premiums due from insured are 
collectible by the Company for the account of the insurer and are remittable to them within the credit 
term. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, taking into 
account the effective yield of the asset. 
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Other income 

Income from other sources is recognized when earned. 
 
General and Administrative Expenses 
Expense is recognized when decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or 
an increase of a liability has arisen and expense can be measured reliably.  Expenses are recognized in 
profit or loss as they are incurred. 
 
Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A 
reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 
a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension 

was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset or; 
d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 
 
Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the 
date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 
 
Company as a lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases.  Fixed lease payments are recognized as an expense in the company 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis. 
 
Income Tax 
Current tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset 
revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilized.  Deferred tax, however, is not recognized on temporary 
differences that arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor 
taxable income or loss. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are 
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reassessed at each end of the reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the period when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.  Movements in the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities arising from changes in tax rates are charged against or credited to income for the period. 
 
Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized as other comprehensive income is also 
recognized in the company statement of other comprehensive income. 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred taxes related to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority. 

 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 
statement of income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as an interest expense. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are 
not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable. 

 
Events after the End of the Reporting Period 
Any post year-end event that provides additional information about the Company’s position at the end 
of the reporting period (adjusting event) is reflected in the financial statements.  Post year-end events 
that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

 
 
5. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

 
The preparation of the accompanying financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the 
Company to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes.  The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying 
financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as 
of the date of the financial statements.  Actual results could differ from such estimates. 
 
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
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Estimates  
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at each 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 
Estimation of allowance for impairment losses of receivables 
The Company maintains allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate to provide 
for potential uncollectible receivables.  The level of this allowance is evaluated by management on 
the basis of factors that affect the collectability of the accounts.  These factors include, but are not 
limited to, age of balances, financial status of counterparties, and legal opinion on recoverability in 
case of legal disputes.  The Company reviews the age and status of receivables, and identifies 
accounts that are to be provided with allowance on a regular basis. 
 
The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Company made 
different judgments or utilized different estimates.  An increase in allowance for impairment losses 
would increase recorded expenses and decrease the related asset accounts. 
 
The carrying values and the corresponding allowance for impairment losses is disclosed in Note 8. 
 
Recognition of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable income will be available against which these can be utilized.  Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized.  These assets are periodically reviewed for realization.  Periodic reviews cover the nature 
and amount of deferred income and expense items, expected timing when assets will be used or 
liabilities will be required to be reported, reliability of historical profitability of businesses expected 
to provide future earnings and tax planning strategies which can be utilized to increase the likelihood 
that tax assets will be realized. 
 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized deferred tax assets amounting to 
P=0.82 million and P=0.37 million, respectively (Note 18). 
 
Retirement and other employee benefits 
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits as well as the present 
value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation 
involves making various assumptions.  These include the determination of the discount rates, future 
salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to the complexity of the valuation, 
the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive 
to changes in these assumptions.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.  The Company 
has a net benefit asset of P=2.90 million and P=3.08 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. Further details are provided in Note 17. 
 
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of government 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, with extrapolated 
maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.  
 
The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific country and is 
modified accordingly with estimates of mortality improvements.  Future salary increases and pension 
increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the specific. 
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6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
This account consists of: 
 

 2018 2017 
Cash on hand P=87,791 P=132,975 
Cash in banks 29,401,865 21,544,810 
Cash equivalents 2,195,953 2,133,860 
 P=31,685,609 P=23,811,645 

 
Cash in banks earns interest that ranged from 0.25% to 1.50% in 2018 and 2017.  Interest income 
earned from cash in banks amounted to P=0.21 million and P=0.15 million in 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. 

 
 
7. Short-term Investments 
 

Short-term investments are short-term time deposit placements in CARD Bank, Inc., CARD SME 
Bank, Inc. and Rizal Bank, Inc. with original maturities of three (3) months to twelve (12) months 
and earned interest at 3.00% to 4.25% and 2.00% to 3.5% in 2018 and 2017, respectively.  The 
rollforward analysis of short-term investments follows: 
 
Interest income earned from short-term investments amounted to P=0.18 million and P=0.21 million in 
2018 and in 2017, respectively. 
 
 

8. Loans and Receivables 
 

Loans and Receivables 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s loans and receivables are as follows: 
 

 2018 

2017 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 

2016 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 
Current portion of loans and receivables - net P=15,425,220 P=11,383,798 23,938,581 
Noncurrent portion of loans and receivable 3,900,000 3,900,000 3,000,000 
 P=19,325,220 P=15,283,798 26,938,581 
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Current portion of loans and receivables - net 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2018 

2017 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 

2016 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 
Accounts receivable:    

Related parties (Note 16) P=1,550,579 P=2,065,361 P=6,231,259 
Others  981,926 1,238,424 2,569,879 

Commissions receivable:    
Related parties (Note 16) 13,073,773 9,527,532 14,036,972 
Others – – 1,988,914 

Interest receivable 107,812 9,249 568,325 
 15,714,090 12,840,566 25,395,349 
Allowance for impairment losses (288,870) (1,456,768) (1,456,768) 
 P=15,425,220 P=11,383,798 P=23,938,581 

 
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 1-30 day terms.  These mostly 
consist of receivables from CARD Mutual Benefit Association, Inc. (CARD MBA) for unremitted 
Burial Assistance Plan (BAP) premiums and receivables from CARD Pioneer Microinsurance, Inc. 
(CPMI) for commissions and expenses incurred during marketing and selling of CPMI products.  
 
Commissions receivable are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 1-30 day terms.  These consist 
mostly of receivables from CPMI for commissions on insurance products sold (Sagip Plan, Kabuklod 
plan, CARD Care and Binhi). 
 
Interest receivable pertains mainly to interest accrued arising from cash and cash equivalents and 
short-term investment. 
 
Allowance for impairment loss 
 
The rollforward analyses of allowance for impairment losses on accounts receivable follows: 

 

 2018 

2017 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 

2016 
(As restated –  

Note 22) 
At January 1 P=1,456,768 P=1,456,768 P=410,431 
Write off (1,309,582) – – 
Recovery 141,684 – – 
Provision – – 1,046,337 
At December 31 P=288,870 P=1,456,768 P=1,456,768 

 
In 2018, the Company written-off allowance for doubtful accounts amounting to P=1,026,214, because 
based on management assessment the receivables written-off is not recoverable.  

Noncurrent portion of loans receivable 
Long term investment pertains to time deposit placement in CARD Bank, Inc. with a term of five  
(5) years, face amount of P=3.90 million and earning interest at 6.00% per annum.  If withdrawn 
before maturity, this shall earn interest based on the prevailing interest rate of CARD Bank, Inc. for 
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regular deposits.  Interest income earned in 2018 and in 2017 amounted to P=0.17 million and P=0.18 
million, respectively.  
 
 

9. Other Assets 
 

This account consists of: 
 

 2018 2017 
Financial Asset   
Security Deposit P=354,157 P=153,150 
 354,157 153,150 
Nonfinancial Asset   
Creditable withholding taxes (CWTs)  1,132,964 6,338,987 
Input VAT (Note 23) 711,257 101,488 
Supplies inventory 154,253 50,107 
Prepaid rent 94,611 114,611 
 2,093,085 6,605,193 
 2,447,242 6,758,343 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (1,858,957) (802,429) 
 P=588,285 P=5,955,914 

 
CWTs pertain to unapplied taxes withheld on income payments and are creditable against income tax 
due.  The Company determined that the taxes withheld could be recovered in future periods.   
 
Allowance for impairment loss provided pertains to creditable withholding taxes of the Company that 
have no supporting certificates as of reporting date. 

 
 
10. Financial Assets at Fair Values through Other Comprehensive Income and Available-for-sale 

Financial Assets 
 

The rollforward analysis of this account follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
Balance at January 1 P=38,067,928 P=24,597,868 
Additions 21,574,291 13,375,000 
Remeasurement loss - net (5,374,894) – 
Reclassification (Note 11) (2,849,151) – 
Forex gain – 95,060 
Balance at December 31 P=51,418,174 P=38,067,928 
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Details of unquoted equity securities follows: 
 

 2018 2017 

 Amount Shares 
Percentage of 

ownership    Amount Shares 
Percentage of 

ownership    
CARD Pioneer Microinsurance,  
 Inc. (CPMI) P=28,143,174 100,001 2.90% P=17,543,068 100,001 2.90% 
CARD MRI Property  
 Holdings, Inc. (CMPHI) 6,525,000 225,000 10.00% 12,500,000 125,000 10.00% 
CARD Bank, Inc. (CBI) 9,000,000 45,000 6.00% 4,000,000 20,000 0.20% 
CARD MRI Holdings, Inc. 
 (CMHI) 6,250,000 250,000 5.00%  1,562,500 62,500 5.00%  
RIMANSI Mutual Solutions    
 Insurance Agency, Inc. 
 (RMSI) 1,500,000 30,000 12.30% 1,000,000 20,000 12.50% 
MEADA Rabrong, Plc. – – – 1,462,360 2,750 13.00% 
 P=51,418,174   P=38,067,928   
 
On October 23, 2017, the Company acquired additional 93,750 shares from CPMHI amounting to 
P=9.38 million. On December 12, 2017, the Company acquired 20,000 preferred shares from CBI 
amounting to P=4.00 million. 
 
On April 24, 2018, the Company acquired additional 25,000 preferred shares from CBI amounting to 
P=5.00 million. On May 2, 2018, 10,000 additional shares were acquired from RIMANSI amounting to  
P=0.50 million. The Company also acquired additional 100,000 shares from CMPHI amounting to  
P=10.00 million. 
 
The Company acquired significant influence in MEADA as of December 31, 2018 due to 
representation in the board seating of the investee; therefore, investments in MEADA was reclassified 
to Investment in Associates. 
 
 

11. Investment in Associates 
 

This account consists of: 
 

  2018 
Acquisition cost (Note 10)  P=2,849,151 
Accumulated equity in net earnings  (345,040) 
   P=2,504,112 

  
  

Audited Financial Report 45



- 22 - 
 
 

*SGVFS036911* 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has 18.73% and 13.00% share on MEADA 
respectively. The details of the investment follows: 

 
   2018 
Acquisition cost    
At January 1  P=1,462,360 
Placements  1,386,791 
At December 31  2,849,151 
Accumulated equity in net loss:   
At January 1  – 
Equity in net earnings (loss)  (345,040) 
At December 31   (345,040) 
   P=2,504,112 

 
The table below illustrates the summarized financial information of MEADA: 
 

    2018 
Total assets   P=31,281,676 
Total liabilities  23,200,405 
Net assets  8,081,271 

 
 
12. Property and Equipment  
 

The rollforward analysis of this account follows: 
 

  2018   

 

Computer and 
Office 

equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

fixture 
Transportation 

equipment Total 
Cost     
At January 1 and December 31 P=1,494,978 P=230,821 P=856,000 P=2,581,799 
Accumulated Depreciation     
At January 1 1,343,593 183,284 855,999 2,382,876 
Depreciation 110,009 25,074 − 135,082 
At December 31 1,453,602 208,358 855,999 2,517,958 
Net Book Value P=41,376 P=22,463 P=1 P=63,841 

 

  2017   

 

Computer 
Office 

equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

fixture 
Transportation 

equipment Total 
Cost     
At January 1  P=1,447,214 P=205,821 P=856,000 P= 2,509,035 
Additions 47,764 25,000 − 72,764 
At December 31 1,494,978 230,821 856,000 2,581,799 
Accumulated Depreciation     
At January 1 1,173,024 152,553 727,600 2,053,177 
Depreciation 170,570 30,730 128,399 329,699 
At December 31 1,343,593 183,284 855,999 2,382,876 
Net Book Value P=151,385 P=47,537 P=1 P=198,923 
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The cost of fully depreciated property and equipment still in active use amounted to P=2.39 million 
and P=1.83 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 
Depreciation expense charged against operations amounted to P=0.14 million and P=0.33 million in 
2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 
 

13. Investment Properties 
 

Company’s investment properties pertain to land held for capital appreciation and building intended 
for leasing to third parties. The rollforward analyses of this account follows: 

 

 2018 

 Land Building 
Construction 

in Progress Total 
Cost     
At January 1 and December 31 P=8,970,346 P=3,233,000 P=− P=12,203,346 
Accumulated Depreciation     
At January 1 − 484,950 − 484,950 
Depreciation  − 323,300 − 323,300 
At December 31 − 808,250 − 808,250 
Net Book Value P=8,970,346 P=2,424,750 − P=11,395,096 

 
 2017 

 Land Building 
Construction 

in Progress Total 
Cost     
At January 1 P=8,970,346 P=− P=2,909,700 P=11,880,046 
Additions − − 323,300 323,300 
Reclassifications − 3,233,000 (3,233,000) − 
 8,970,346 3,233,000 -- 12,203,346 
Accumulated Depreciation     
At January 1 − − − − 
Depreciation  − 484,950 − 484,950 
At December 31 − 484,950 − 484,950 
Net Book Value P=8,970,346 P=2,748,050 − P=11,718,396 

 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has an ongoing construction of building in the land located 
at Lucena City amounting to P2.91 million.   
 
As of December 31, 2017, the total construction cost of the building amounted to P=3.23 million with a 
fair market value of P4.68 million. 
 
The land properties have a total fair value of P=15.40 million as of December 31, 2018 and  
December 31, 2017. 
  
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, no investment property has been pledged as collateral or security 
for any of the Company’s liabilities.  
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14. Trade and Other Payables 
 

This account consists of: 
 

  2018 

2017 
(As restated – 

Note 22) 

2016 
(As restated – 

Note 22) 
Trade payables to related parties P=9,610,697 P=2,794,177 P=22,833,908 
Accrued expenses and provisions 9,576,037 13,663,577 1,060,769 
Capiling fund 6,871,195 7,056,450 7,074,070 
Subscription payable 4,687,500 − − 
Income tax payable 2,720,465 2,808,371 − 
Due to government agencies 1,360,772 1,281,558 694,256 
Scholarship fund 1,051,882 1,061,882 1,094,882 
Others 999,613 1,489,618 590,111 
  P=36,561,488 P=30,155,633 P=33,347,996 

 
Capiling fund pertains to fund accumulated for long-term Capiling Awardee incentive program 
intended for the Company’s microinsurance (MI) coordinators.  Capiling fund is used as source of 
funds for MI coordinators who have already been a coordinator for at least five years and have 
reached the sales target for the year.  These MI coordinators are entitled to this incentive program. On 
November 30, 2017, the original purpose of Capiling Fund was changed and approved by the Board 
as travel incentive package for topsellers of microinsurance products such as Sagip Plan, Kabuklod 
Plan and CARD Care. 
 
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.  These consist 
mostly of premiums received from assured for payout to principal insurers of Kabuklod Plan, Sagip 
Plan and CARD Care. 
 
Due to government agencies represents output VAT, withholding tax and payable for HDMF loan 
and contribution. 
 
Accrued expenses consist of cost for certified CARD claims adjusters training (C3A), incentives of 
microinsurance coordinators, selling costs, unpaid audit fee and unpaid utility bills. 
 
Scholarship fund amounted to P=1.05 million and P=1.06 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively.  In 2009, the Company and Pioneer Intercontinental Insurance Corporation (PIIC) 
agreed to sponsor a scholarship grant to all qualified children of CARD MBA members, contributing 
P=5 each for every PAID Plan purchased through CARD and/or the Company’s network.  Scholarship 
fund is given to scholars quarterly at P=3,000 each.  The scholarship fund will still be paid until fully 
utilized despite the termination of the PAID Plan. 

 
Other payables consist of payable to board members for incidental expenses, other payable to staff 
pertaining to tax refunds and finance lease payable. 
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15. Equity 
 

Capital Stock 

The roll forward analysis are as follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
 Shares Amount Shares Amount 
Common Stock - P=500 par value    
Authorized  100,000 P=50,000,000 100,000 P=50,000,000 

Issued and outstanding:     
 At beginning of year 71,799 P=35,899,500 44,465 P=22,232,500 
 Capital infusion 28,201 14,100,500 27,334 13,667,400 
 At end of the year 100,000 P=50,000,000 71,799 P=35,899,900 

 
The Company has restricted 980 shares for future issuance upon election of independent board 
member.  On June 10, 2015, one share was issued upon electing additional board member. As of 
December 31, 2016, the 979 shares remain restricted for issuance to future board members. 

 
In 2017, the Company issued additional 27,334 shares amounting to P=13.67 million.  As of  
December 31, 2017, the Company has 71,800 issued and outstanding shares amounting to  
P=35.90 million.  In 2018, the Company issued additional shares amounting to P=14.10 million.  As of 
December 31, 2018, the Company has 100,000 issued and outstanding shares amounting to  
P=50.00 million.   

 
Retained Earnings 
Cash dividends 
The Company’s BOD approved and ratified the declaration of cash dividends as follows: 
 
 2018 2017 
Date of approval   December 10 August 31 March 31 
Date of declaration September 28 April 30 December 10 August 31 March 31 
Date of payment October 5 May 2 December 11 September 5 April 3 
Number of stockholders as of 

dividend declaration 35 32 31 31 
 

31 
Dividend per share P=105 P=200 P=100 P=62.5 P=120.00 
Total amount P=10,500,000 P=16,000,200 P=8,000,000 P=5,000,000 P=7,200,000 
Dividends paid P=10,500,000 P=16,000,200 P=8,000,000 P=5,000,000 P=7,200,000 

 
 
16. Related Party Transactions 

 
Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, or if 
the parties are subject to common control or common significant influence.  A related party may be 
an individual or a corporate entity. 
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In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions with related parties.  Significant 
transactions with related parties follow: 

 
 2018 
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature   Terms   Conditions  
Affiliates         
CPMI         
Due to affiliate  443,857       
    Beginning 648,441  Unremitted premium for CPMI 

products 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 41,531,775        
    Payment 41,736,359        
Due from affiliate  236,480       
    Beginning 315,608  Expenses during CPMI Related 

Activities 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 701,915        
    Collections 781,042        
Commissions receivable  1,223,738       
    Beginning 1,060,067  Uncollected Commission, Traditional 

Insurances, CCAP & BINHI 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 101,273,288        
    Collections 101,109,617        
          
CARD MBA         
Due to affiliate  463,773       
    Beginning 1,354,342  Payment for expenses during CaMIA 

related activities and BAP Claim 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 5,976,060        
    Payment 6,866,628        
Due from affiliate  1,231,793       
    Beginning 1,453,447  Unremitted premium of CARD MBA 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 15,916,839        
    Collections 16,138,492        
Commissions receivable  -       
    Beginning 384,683  Uncollected commission for marketing 

of BOAT program 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings -        
    Collections 384,683        
          
CARD, Inc.         
Due to affiliate  -       
    Beginning 2,174  Payment for service rendered of Utility On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 4,674        
    Payment 6,848        
Due from affiliate  2,200       
    Billings 25,196,204  Insurance Premium of CARD Inc. 

Employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Collections 25,194,005        
          
CARD Bank Inc.         
Due to affiliate  -       
    Billings 7,775    On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Payment 7,775        
Due from affiliate  4,926       
    Beginning 13,690 

 
Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecuredp 

    Billings 17,715,634        
    Collections 17,724,398        
Cash  6,149,453   On demand; interest at 0.25% to 

1.50% for regular  
  

      savings deposit and 3.50% for cash 
equivalents 

  

    Deposit 140,459,939  Various     
    Withdrawal 131,416,965    On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
Interest Income 125,015 

 
Interest earned on time deposits and 
savings account 

On-demand; interest at 1.50% to 
4.00% 

Unsecured 

      
Short term investment 665,948  Placement of funds on time deposits On-demand; interest at 3.50% Unsecured 
Long term investment 3,900,000  Placement of funds on long term 

deposits 
On-demand; interest at 4.00% Unsecured 

         
CARD SME         
Due to affiliate  -       
    Billings 11,362    On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Payment 11,362        
Due from affiliate  51       
    Beginning 5,124 

 
Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
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 2018 
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature   Terms   Conditions  
    Billings 7,878,954        
    Collections 7,884,027        
Cash  6,038,313       
    Deposit 37,395,085        
    Withdrawal 31,354,041        
Interest Income 116,023  Interest earned on time deposits and 

savings account 
On-demand; interest at 1.50% to 
3.75% 

Unsecured 

Short term investment 3,399,087  Placement of funds on time deposits On-demand; interest at 3.00% to 
3.75% 

Unsecured 

          
MIMAP         
Due from affiliate  -       
    Beginning 11,836  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 2,000        
    Collections 13,837        
          
CMDI         
Due to affiliate  41,718       
    Beginning 508    On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 45,929        
    Payment 4,720        
Due from affiliate  40,176       
    Beginning 22,268 

 
Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 786,278        
    Collections 768,370        
          
Mga Likha ni Inay         
(MLNI)         
Due to affiliate  7,143       
    Beginning 2,000  Payment for MLNI products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 7,398        
    Payment 2,255        
Due from affiliate  42       
    Beginning 1,063  Uncollected insurance premiums of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 83,364        
    Collections 84,385        
          
Rizal Bank, Inc.         
Due to affiliate  199       
    Beginning -    On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 7,430        
    Payment 7,231        
Due from affiliate  -       
    Beginning 35,835  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 3,565,717        
    Collections 3,601,552        
Short term investment 1,327,700  Placement of funds on time deposits On-demand; interest at 4.25%    
Cash Equivalents 2,195,953  Placement of funds on time deposits On-demand; interest at 3.50%  Unsecured 
          
RISE         
Due from affiliate  -       
    Beginning 59,318  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 69,735        
    Collections 129,053        
          
CMIT         
Due from affiliate  -       
    Beginning 1,967  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 456,080        
    Collections 458,047        
          
      
CLFC         
Due to affiliate  -       
    Beginning 510  Payment for service rendered of Utility On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 136,930        
    Payment 137,440        
Due from affiliate  -       
    Beginning 34,479  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 232,621        
    Collections 267,100        
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 2018 
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature   Terms   Conditions  
BotiCARD         
Due to affiliate  3,612       
    Beginning 1,871  Payment for BotiCARD products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 4,601        
    Payment 2,860        
Due from affiliate  2,035       
    Billings 211,733  Insurance premium of BotiCARD 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Collections 209,698        
          
BDSFI         
Due to affiliate  -       
    Beginning -        
    Billings 50        
    Payment 50        
Due from affiliate  -       
    Beginning 242  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 129,921        
    Collections 130,163        
          
RMSI         
Due to affiliate  1,224,196       
    Beginning 784,332  Unremitted premium for BAP On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 23,893,234        
    Payment 23,453,370        
Due from affiliate  12,586       
    Beginning 10,115  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 124,355        
    Collections 121,884        
Commissions receivable  37       
    Beginning 124,812  Uncollected premium for Burial 

Assistance Plan (BAP) 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 128,631        
    Collections 253,406        
          
CARD MRI Hijos         
Due to affiliate  1,393       
    Beginning -    On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
    Billings 1,393        
    Payment -        
Due from affiliate  449       
    Beginning -  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 145,387        
    Collections 144,938        
          
CARD MRI Publishing 
House         
Due from affiliate  314       
    Beginning -  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 52,392        
    Collections 52,077        
          
EMPC         
Due to affiliate  -       
    Beginning -        
    Billings 5,231        
    Payment 5,231        
Due from affiliate  -       
    Beginning 87,503  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 242,207        
    Collections 329,710        
          
FDS ASYA         
Due from affiliate  208       
    Beginning -  Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees 
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 100,482        
    Collections 100,274        
          
CARD MRI Property Holdings        
Due from affiliate  0       

    Beginning -  
Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 
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 2018 
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature   Terms   Conditions  
    Billings 55,924        
    Collections 55,924        
          
CARD Myanmar         
Due from affiliate  -       

    Billings 65,792  
Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Collections 65,792        
          
CARD MRI Holdings         
Due from affiliate  -       

    Billings 44,132  
Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Collections 44,132        
          
PLI/GCLI         
Due to affiliate  531,928       
    Beginning 

844,168  
Unremitted premium for PLI/GCLI 
Products 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 3,239,406        
    Payment 3,551,646        
          
PLI         
Due to affiliate  133,184       
    Beginning 

-  
Unremitted premium for PLI/GCLI 
Products 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 5,283,506.90        
    Payment 5,150,322.44        
Due from affiliate  0       

    Beginning 12,866  
Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured 

    Billings 21,052        
    Collections 33,918        

 

The above outstanding balances as of December 31, 2018 are summarized as follow: 
 

Commission receivable (Note 8)  P=13,037,773 
Due from related parties (Note 8)  1,550,579 
Short term investment (Note 7)  5,392,735 
Cash in bank (Note 6)  15,187,766 
Non-current portion of loans receivable (Note 8)  3,900,000 
Due to related parties (Note 14)  (9,610,697) 
Net due from related parties  ₱29,458,156 
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 2017 
   Amount   Outstanding  Nature Terms Conditions 
Affiliates      

      
CPMI     
Due to affiliate  648,441 

Unremitted premium for CPMI 
products On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Beginning 2,139,493  

Billings    35,699,310  
Payments (37,190,362)  

Due from affiliate   315,608 
Expenses  during CPMI Related 
Activities On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Beginning 3,624,385  

Billings 2,519,808  
Collections (5,828,585)  

Commissions receivable  1,060,067 
Uncollected Commission, Traditional 
Insurances, CCAP & BINHI On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Beginning 11,963,200  

Billings 92,217,457  
Collection (103,120,590)  

      
CARD MBA     
Due to affiliate  1,354,342 Payment for expenses during CaMIA 

related activities and BAP Claims  On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Beginning 6,988,355  
Billings  28,927,684  
Payments (34,561,698)     

Due from affiliate  1,453,447 Unremitted premium for BAP, 
uncollected insurance premium of 
CARD MBA employees 

On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Beginning 1,099,067  
Billings 15,045,428  
Collections (14,691,048)    

      
CARD, Inc.      

Due to affiliate  2,174 Payment for service rendered of 
Utility On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured 

Billings 15,146     
Payments (12,972)    

Due from affiliate  - Insurance Premium of CARD Inc. 
Employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 18,372,627  

Collection (18,372,627)    
      
CARD Bank Inc.      
      
Due to affiliate  -    Billings -   

Payments -    
      
Due from Affiliates  13,690 

Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees 

On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Beginning 1,237,807  
Billings 11,925,732  
Collections (13,149,849)   

Cash  8,215,077 

Various 

On demand; interest at 0.25% to 
1.50% for regular savings deposit and 
3.50% for cash equivalents 

Unsecured Deposit 142,654,902  

Withdrawal (134,439,825)    

Interest Income 986,054  Interest earned on time deposits and 
savings account 

On demand; interest at 1.50% to 
6.00% Unsecured 

Short term investment 647,712  Placement of funds on time deposits On demand; interest at 3% to 4.25% Unsecured 

Long-term investment 3,900,000  Placement of funds on long term 
deposits On demand; interest at 6.00% Unsecured 

      
CARD SME      
Due to Affiliates  - overpayment of GCLI premium On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 1,017   

Payments (1,017)    
Cash  4,599,295 Various On demand; interest at 1.50% to 

3.50% Unsecured Deposit 31,055,800  
Withdrawal (26,456,505)     

Interest income 101,115  Interest earned on time deposits and 
savings account 

On demand; interest at 1.50% to 
3.75% Unsecured 

Short term investment  3,318,989 Placement of funds on time deposits On demand; interest at 3.75% Unsecured 

Due from affiliate  5,124 Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured 

Billings 5,050,556    
Collections (5,045,432)    

     
CMDI     
Due to affiliate  508 Overpayment of travel insurance 

premium On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured 
Billings 860   
Payments (352)    

Due from affiliate  22,268 Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 532,539  

Collections (510,271)    
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 2017 
   Amount   Outstanding  Nature Terms Conditions 
CARD EMPC      
Due to affiliate      

Billings -   
Payments -    

Due from Affiliates  87,503 Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees & GCLI 

On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 241,011  
Collections (153,509)    

      
Mga Likha ni Inay (MNLI)      
Due to Affiliates  2,000 Payment for  MNLI products On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured 

Billings 2,255     
Payments (255)    

Due from Affiliates  1,063 Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 94,859  

Collections (93,796)     
      
Rizal Bank Inc.      
Due from Affiliates  35,835 Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 1,992,552  
Collections (1,956,717)     

Short term investment  1,284,042 Placement of funds on time deposits On demand; interest at 3.75% Unsecured 
      
RISE     

Due from Affiliates  59,318 Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured 

Billings 69,069    
Collections (9,751)    

     
CMIT       
Due from Affiliates  1,967 Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 395,633  
Collections (393,665)     

      
CLFC      

Due to Affiliates  510 Payment for Mid-year documentation 
issuance On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured 

Beginning 4,950     
Billings 6,608     
Payments (11,048)     

Due from Affiliates  34,479 Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 187,042  

Collections (152,563)     
      
BOTICARD      
Due to Affiliates  1,871 Payment for  BOTICARD  products On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 2,629  

Payments (758)     
Due from Affiliates  - Insurance Premium of BOTICARD 

employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 201,144  
Collections (201,144)     

      
BDSFI      
Due from Affiliates  242 Uncollected insurance premium of 

employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 126,159  
Collections (125,917)     

      
RMSI      
Due to Affiliates  784,332 

Unremitted premium for BAP On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Beginning 495,275  
Billings 10,857,986  
Payments (10,568,929)     

Due from Affiliates  10,115 Uncollected insurance premium of 
employees On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured 

Billings 1,489,983     
Collections (1,479,868)     

Commission Receivable  124,812 Uncollected premium for Burial 
Assistance Plan (BAP) On demand; non interest bearing Unsecured Billings 2,036,894  

Collections (1,912,082)     
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The above outstanding balances as of December 31, 2017 are summarized as follow: 
 

Commission receivable (Note 8)  P=1,569,562 
Due from related parties (Note 8)  2,052,495 
Short term investment (Note 7)  5,250,743 
Cash in bank (Note 6)  12,814,373 
Long term investment (Note 8)  3,900,000 
Due to related parties (Note 14)  (2,794,177) 
Net due from related parties  ₱22,792,996 

 
 
17. Retirement Plan 
 

The Company, CARD Bank, CARD Inc., CARD SME Bank, CMBA, CARD BDSF, CMIT, 
BotiCARD, CMDI, MLNI, RBI, CLFC, RISE and EMPC maintain a funded and formal 
noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan - the CARD MRI Multi-Employer Retirement Plan 
(MERP) - covering all of their regular employees and CARD Group Employees’ Retirement Plan 
(Hybrid Plan) applicable to employees hired on or after July 1, 2016.  MERP is valued using the 
projected unit cost method and is financed solely by the Parent Company and its related parties.   
 
MERP and the Hybrid Plan are compliant with the requirements of RA No. 7641 (Retirement Law).  
MERP provides lump sum benefits equivalent to up to 120% of final salary for every year of credited 
service, a fraction of at least six (6) months being considered as one whole year, upon retirement, 
death, total and permanent disability, or voluntary separation after completion of at least one year of 
service with the participating companies. 
 
The Hybrid Plan provides a retirement benefit equal to 100% of the member’s employer accumulated 
value (the Parent Company’s contributions of 8% plan salary to Fund A plus credited earnings) and 
100% of the member’s employee accumulated value (member’s own contributions up to 10% of plan 
salary to Fund B plus credited earnings), if any.  Provided that in no case shall 100% of the employer 
accumulated value in Fund A be less than 100% of plan salary for every year of credited service. 

 
Total retirement expense in 2018 and 2018 related to Hybrid Plan amounted to P=1.45 million and  
P=1.14 million, respectively.  

 
The latest actuarial valuation report covers reporting period as of December 31, 2018. 

 
.
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The rollforward analysis of remeasurement gain on defined benefit plan follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
At January 1 P=598,874 P=552,652 
Remeasurement gain on defined benefit plan (1,525,041) 66,031 
Tax effect (Note 18) 457,512 (19,809) 
At December 31 (P=468,655) P=598,874 

 
The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining retirement liability for the Company’s 
retirement plan are shown below: 

 
 2018 2017 
Discount rate 7.70% 5.77% 
Salary increase rate 5.00% 5.00% 
Average remaining working life 26 27.8 

 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the reporting period, 
assuming all other assumptions were held constant: 
 

 December 31, 2018 

 
Increase 

(decrease) 
Effect on defined 

pension plan 
Discount rate -100 basis points (P=444,521) 
 +100 basis points 518,703 
   
Salary rate +100 basis points 527,708 
 -100 basis points (459,139) 

 
 December 31, 2017 

 
Increase 

(decrease) 
Effect on defined 

pension plan 
Discount rate -100 basis points (P=479,826) 
 +100 basis points 573,361 
   
Salary rate +100 basis points 528,888 
 -100 basis points (453,535) 

 
The fair value of net plan assets by each class is as follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
Cash and cash equivalents P=4,132,091 P=3,532,937 
Debt Instruments in government bonds 4,452,090 4,352,516 
Debt Instruments in other bonds 204,651 159,458 
Investment in mutual funds – 40,293 
Loans – 377,212 
Others 513,488 110,592 
 P=9,302,320 P=8,573,008 
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The Retirement Trust Fund assets are valued by the fund manager at fair value using the mark-to-
market valuation.  The Company expects to contribute P=244,669 to the defined pension plan in 2019. 

 
 Shown below is the maturity analysis of undiscounted benefit payments: 
 

 2018 2017 
Less than one year  260,136 122,373 
More than one year to five years  1,238,620 609,676 
More than five years to ten years 2,149,067 1,154,940 

 
The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 
10.6 years.  

 
 
18. Income Tax 
 

The Company’s provision for income tax consists of: 
 
 

 2018 2017 
Current P=20,599,694 P=12,511,592 
Final 88,348 107,086 
Deferred – (192,836) 
 P=20,688,042 P=12,425,842 

 
The Company’s net deferred taxes relate to the tax effects of the following: 

 
 2018 2017 
Deferred tax assets recognized in profit or loss   
 Unamortized past service cost P=831,581 959,717 
 Allowance for impairment losses 86,661 P=437,030 
 918,242 1,396,747 
Deferred tax liabilities recognized in profit or loss:   
 Pension asset 551,073 707,042  

Foreign exchange gain – 65,876 
 551,073 772,918 
Net deferred tax asset in profit or loss 367,169 623,829 
Net deferred tax asset (liability) recognized in OCI   
Remeasurement loss (gain) on net pension liability 
 (Note 17) 457,512 (256,660)     
 P=824,681 P=367,169 
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The reconciliation of income tax at statutory income tax rate to effective income tax follows: 
 

 2018 2017 
Statutory income tax P=16,646,297 P=10,501,781 
Add (deduct) tax effects of:   
 Nondeductible expense 5,121,453 1,977,604 

Other nontaxable income (1,000,505) – 
 Interest income already subjected to final tax (79,203) (53,543) 
Provision for income tax P=20,688,042 P=12,425,842 

 
 
19. Capital and Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 

Governance Framework 
The primary objective of the Company’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the 
Company’s shareholders from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial 
performance objectives, including failing to exploit opportunities.  Key management recognizes the 
critical importance of having efficient and effective risk management systems in place. 

 
The BOD approves the Company’s risk management policies and meets regularly to approve any 
commercial, regulatory and organizational requirements of such policies.  These policies define the 
Company’s identification of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to ensure the appropriate quality 
and diversification of assets and specify reporting requirements. 

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, commissions and 
trade payables, accrued expenses and other payables, their fair values approximate the carrying values 
as of the reporting date. 

 
Cash - due to the short-term nature of the account, the fair value of cash approximate the carrying 
amounts in the statements of financial position. 
 
Due to related parties - due to the short-term nature of the account, carrying amounts approximate 
their fair values. 
 
Accounts and other payables - fair values of accounts and other payables approximate their carrying 
amounts in the statement of financial position due to the short-term nature of the transactions. 
 
The main purpose of the Company’s financial instruments is to fund its operations and capital 
expenditures.  The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are liquidity risk and 
credit risk.  The Company does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative 
purposes nor does it write options. 
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Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial 
instruments by valuation technique: 

 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 

value are observable, either directly or indirectly 
Level 3: techniques which uses inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that 

are not based on observable market data 
 

The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of the company’s investment properties as at 
December 31, 2018.  
 

 2018 

 
Quoted Price in 
Active Markets 

Significant 
Observable Inputs 

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs Total 

Assets for which fair value is 
disclosed:     

         Financial Asset through OCI P=– P=– P=51,418,174 P=51,418,174 
 Investment property – – 11,718,396 11,718,396 
 P=– P=– P=63,136,570 P=63,136,570 

 
Impact on fair value of level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value of changes to key 
assumptions 
 
Starting in 2018, the Company determined the fair value of its FVOCI financial assets using the 
dividend the capital asset pricing mode.  This method is based on inputs other than quoted prices that 
are observable for the asset such as equity value derived from expected return from investments. 
 
The assumptions above were used in the “Base Case” projections.  These assumptions were 
individually changed (while holding other assumptions steady as in the Base Case) and the resulting 
valuations derived, to show sensitivity of the valuation to various changes in assumptions. 

 

  Increase (decrease) in fair value 
Significant Unobservable 
 Input 

Movement in basis 
points 2018 

Equity value +500% P=864,130 
 -500% (P=849,131) 

 
 

20. Agency Agreement 
 

The Company has agreements with various insurance companies to: (1) be the exclusive distributor of 
Sagip Plan, Kabuklod Plan and CARD Care; (2) collect all premiums due on all insurance directly 
solicited by and/or credited to the Company; and (3) remit premiums, taxes and charges collected for 
a policy issued by Insurance Company.  Under the terms of these agreements, the Company is entitled 
to remuneration equal to a percentage of the premiums written, net of taxes.  Expenses incurred in 
connection with its brokerage services are for the Company’s account. 

 
Commission income derived from brokerage services amounted to P=93.76 million and P=92.22 million 
in 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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21. Restatement 
 

The Company restated its financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017 as it 
corrected prior-period error in accordance with PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors. A third statement of financial positihon is presented as the restatement involves 
transactions earlier than 2017. 
 
The Company determined that there were overstatements in 2016 of program expenses accrual and 
understatement of commission income after reconciliation of records with counterparties. 
 
The effects of the adjustments to previously reported balance follow: 
 
  Restatement  
 As previously reported adjustments As restated 
December 31, 2017    
Statement of financial position    
Commission receivable (Note 8) P=1,569,564 P=7,957,968 P=9,527,532 
Accrued expense (Note 14) (16,190,873) 2,527,296 (13,663,577) 
Retained earnings (26,594,140) 10,485,268 (37,079,408) 
    
For the year ended December 31, 2017 
Commission income 92,217,455 6,625,451 99,842,908 
    
January 1, 2017    
Statement of financial position    
Commission receivables (Note 8) 14,693,369 1,332,517 16,025,886 
Accrued expense (Note 14) (3,588,065) 2,527,296 (1,060,769) 
    
Statement of financial position    
Retained earnings (24,214,048) 3,859,815 (28,073,863) 

 
 
22. Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 
 

The Company reported and/or paid the following types of taxes in 2018:  
 

a. Value added tax (VAT) 
 
Input VAT 

 
At January 1  P=101,488 
Additional   2,324,433 
Utilized  (1,714,664) 
At December 31  P=711,257 

 
During the year, the Company declared Output VAT amounting to ₱11.31 million arising from 
the commission income received during the year. 

 
b. Information on the Company’s importations 

The Company does not undertake importation activities. 
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c. Taxes and Licenses 
This includes all other taxes, local and national, including real estate taxes, licenses, and permit 
fees lodged under the caption ‘Taxes and Licenses’ under the ‘Expenses’ section in the 
Company’s statement of comprehensive income. 

 
Local    
Business permits  P=160,103 
Documentary stamp tax  113,745 
LTO Registration  5,648 
  P=279,496 
   
National    
SEC Articles of Incorporation Amendment  P=9,327 
BIR Registration fee  500 
  9,827 
  P=289,323 

 
d. Withholding Taxes 

Details of withholding taxes follow: 
 

 
Total 

Remittances  
Amount 

Outstanding 
Withholding tax on compensation and benefits P=142,508 P=– 
Expanded withholding taxes 2,502,732 502,848 
 P=2,645,240 P=502,848 

 
e. Tax Assessments and Cases 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company has not been involved in any tax case under preliminary 
investigation, litigation, and/or prosecution in courts or bodies outside the BIR. 
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